
Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN AGENDA

MONDAY, MARCH 22, 2021 6:00 PM

You are invited to a Zoom webinar.
When: Mar 22, 2021 06:00 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada)
Topic: Board of Selectmen
 Please click the link below to join the 
webinar:      https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88507977228
Or Telephone: (301) 715-8592      Webinar ID: 885 0797 7228
If you have trouble accessing this meeting, please call (603) 440-8248
  
1. Call to Order
  
2. Non-Public Session, RSA 91-A:3 II.(e)
  
3. Citizens' Forum
  
4. Scheduled Appointments
 4.1. Conservation Commission Forest Management Plan, Jared Hardner 
  
5. Administration
 5.1. Administrative Updates 
 5.2. PILOT agreement with Parkhurst Place 
  
6. Staff Reports
 6.1. Forestview Cemetery, Andrew Mullin Eagle Scout Project 
 6.2. Road Reconstruction - RFP award 
 6.3. Utility Revaluation Bid 
 6.4. Police Station Renovation CRF Withdrawal Request 
  
7. Approvals
 7.1. Assessing 
 7.2. Payroll, AP and Minutes Approval 
  
8. Action Items

Page 1 of 200

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88507977228


  
9. Old/New Business
  
 Adjournment
  
 Next Meeting: April 12, 2021

Page 2 of 200



Forest Management Plan 
Town of Amherst, NH 
2020-2040 
 
Rev: November 5, 2020 
 
 

 
 
Prepared by: 
Charlie Koch (Licensed Forester) 
Jared Hardner 
John Harvey

Page 3 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 2 

Table of Contents 
 
Purpose 3 

Forest Management Context 4 

ACC’s Past Forest Management 8 

ACC’s Forest Management Going Forward 10 
Intervention type 1: Control invasive species via herbicidal and mechanical treatments 11 
Intervention type 2: Diversify age classes via group-selection harvests and shelterwood 12 
Intervention type 3: Reduce stand densities via thinning harvests 13 
Intervention type 4: Establish sites for protection of old growth forests 14 
Monitoring and Adaptive Management 15 

Appendix A: Wildlife Species of Conservation Concern and Habitat Associations 18 

Appendix B: Data Fields for ACC’s Forest Stand Database 20 
 
  

Page 4 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 3 

Purpose 
 
The Amherst Conservation Commission (ACC) serves as the forest management authority for Amherst’s town 
forests and forested conservation lands, comprising 11 major areas and totaling almost 1,800 acres. 

ACC will manage these forests, to the extent feasible, to achieve three objectives. 

Objective 1: Conserve native biodiversity  

Amherst’s forest lands are large and well conserved relative to the more fragmented surrounding landscape to 
the east, south, and southwest. ACC recognizes the importance of conserving forests and forest-dependent 
species. In some cases, targeted forestry operations may improve habitat conditions for certain species and 
alter the structure and composition of the forest in ways that may enhance its ecological function and 
resilience over time. 

Objective 2: Maintain or improve recreational access, natural aesthetics, and wildlife viewing opportunities 

The most common form of public recreation in Amherst’s town forests is trail use by hikers, mountain bikers, 
runners, snow shoers and Nordic skiers. The public’s enjoyment of trails is generally a function of accessibility 
to well-constructed and maintained trails, forest aesthetics, and the opportunity to view wildlife. Forest 
management practices that support public recreation will seek to maintain or improve recreational access, 
natural aesthetics, and wildlife viewing opportunities. 

Objective 3: Generate revenue  

The economic value of the commercial timber in Amherst’s town forests is significant, however ACC does not 
choose to maximize profitability as a goal, but rather prioritizes biodiversity conservation. Revenue generation 
from timber harvests is important though, as it pays the costs of forest management and it generates profits 
that are deposited in the Conservation Fund, which is used to manage the town’s conservation lands and to 
acquire additional properties.  

The purpose of this document is to provide a plan for achieving these forest management objectives over the time 
period 2020-2040. It is an update to the Amherst Forest Management Plan last revised in 1999. This document is 
accompanied by a current database containing detailed information on all of Amherst’s forest stands, including 
forest stand ages, stocking densities, species composition, harvest history, significant wildlife elements, invasive 
species, access for management, among other variables. The database should be updated periodically to reflect 
forest dynamics. ArcGIS provides a platform for interactive spatial analysis of the database to assist in developing 
forest management interventions. This management plan offers a set of recommendations for the next 20 years, 
each of which should be refined via analysis of current conditions and consultation with Amherst’s forester, 
wildlife specialists (e.g., University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension), and Amherst‘s citizens. 
 

Page 5 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 4 

Figure 1. Forests actively managed by ACC 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Forest Management Context 
 
Amherst’s forests are generally categorized as either hemlock-hardwood-pine or Appalachian oak-pine, as shown 
in Figure 2. Amherst lies in a transitional zone between southern Appalachian oak forests and northern hardwood 
forests. In addition to a north-south gradient of species representation, red oak and/or white pine are most 
common in forests that have taken over abandoned fields. Under historical conditions, these forests would 
generally be expected to mature to hemlock or beech stands in later seral stages. As climate conditions change, 
warmer temperatures and pathogens affecting hemlocks could favor the development of oak dominated forests 
over the long term. 
 
Amherst’s most common forest types occur on glacial till deposited in southern New Hampshire approximately 
15,000 years ago. The till is composed of broken fragments of bedrock that were deposited by the ice as it 
retreated. It is rich in quartz and tends to produce poorly buffered, acidic soils with low nutrient value. The soils in 
Amherst are generally in the Canton series, which are well drained, stony, fine sandy loams. In Joe English it is 
possible to find hardpan Paxton series on drumlins (eastern side), well drained Scituate in shallow depressions on 
hilly uplands, and exposed bedrock Chatfield-Hollis complex on the tops of hills and ridges. In Pond Parish, Joppa 
Hill, and Betty Arnold there are poorly drained mucky peats.  The bedrock upon which these soils rest consists of 
granite and gneiss. The most common is granite (~400 million years old). An older Massabesic Gneiss Complex 
( ̴625 million years) occurs in a ribbon of metamorphic rock crossing southern New Hampshire from Milford to 
Pawtuckaway State Park – extending through Amherst. 
  

Grater
Woods

Woolsey

Joe English (536 acres)  
Joppa Hill (437 acres)  
Betty Arnold Forest (230 acres)  
Pond Parish/Wheeler (180 acres)  
Haseltine Community Preserve (93 acres)  
Dacquino Forest (70 acres)  
Upper Bragdon Farm (59 acres) 
Boutelle Property (57 acres)  
Caesar’s Brook Reservation (41 acres)  
Woolsey (26 acres)  
Grater Woods (22 acres)  

Page 6 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 5 

Figure 2: Habitat land cover map of Amherst, NH

 
 
 
Although Amherst’s forest types are common in New Hampshire, their relatively large size and low level of 
fragmentation allow them to support an array of native species, including some species of conservation concern. 
Amherst supports the black gum-red maple basin swamp natural community and the vertebrate species 
Jefferson/Blue Spotted Salamander Complex, Banded Sunfish, Spotted Turtle, Blanding’s Turtle, Northern Black 
Racer, and Eastern Hognose Snake. The New Hampshire Natural Heritage Bureau indicates that the Spotted Turtle 
and Blanding’s Turtle have been sighted on the ACC-managed Pond Parish Property. Appendix A provides 
additional details. 
 
The 2015 New Hampshire Wildlife Action Plan indicates that most of Amherst’s forests are among the highest 
ranked wildlife habitat in New Hampshire and the biological region, as shown in Figure 3. Those not achieving 
these rankings are still considered important supporting habitat in this landscape.  
 
 
  

Page 7 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 6 

Figure 3: Habitat land cover map of Amherst, NH

 
 

 
Amherst’s forests generally occur on abandoned agricultural and grazing lands. Stone walls and other structures 
within present day forests are evidence of this prior land use 
(figure 4). Because of a major shift in land use away from 
agriculture and grazing in the late 19th and early 20th century, 
many of Amherst’s forests are of similar age, few of which are 
more than 100 years old, although isolated “wolf” trees left to 
mark property boundaries may be more than 200 years old. 
Another contributing factor to the forests’ even age structure 
was the 1938 hurricane that leveled much of the region’s 
standing trees.  
 
Amherst’s middle-aged forests do not experience a great 
degree of tree mortality and blowdowns, and some 
disturbance regimes such as beaver activity and fire have been 
curtailed by humans seeking to prevent property damage. This 
is in contrast to older natural forests that experience more 
tree mortality, blowdowns, beaver activity, and fires in 
stochastic patterns, creating a mosaic of forest stands of 
different ages across the landscape.  
Some native forest species rely on, and most species utilize, 
disturbed forest areas where vegetative re-growth provides 
forage and cover. Because Amherst’s forests have limited 

Figure 4: A stone wall in the forest often 
indicates a prior non-forest land 

 
 

Page 8 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 7 

disturbance, young forest is generated relatively infrequently on our landscape. The ideal distribution of timber 
age classes to optimize wildlife habitat in a New England forest has been theorized by Richard DeGraaf of the U.S. 
Forest Service Wildlife Habitat Research Unit1,2. Relative to this ideal, “sawtimber” and “large sawtimber” age 
classes are over-represented in Amherst’s forests, with an exaggerated proportion in the “large sawtimber” class. 
At the same time, a very small percentage of our forests are in the young age classes of “seedling,” “sapling,” or 
“pole.” Figure 5 contrasts DeGraaf’s ideal age-class profile against the current age class distribution in Amherst. 
DeGraaf’s ideal forest structure for wildlife is only one point of reference. A different point of reference might be 
the theorized structure and composition of forests prior to European colonization, based principally on major 
disturbances such as hurricanes3,4. Data upon which to base these descriptions are sparse, and theories vary, but 
most suggest forests of older trees, likely dominated by hemlocks. Figure 6 shows an example of such an age 
distribution, again juxtaposed against Amherst’s current forests. In this case, Amherst’s forests slightly under-
represent younger age classes and greatly under-represent antique (old growth) forest. 
 

Figure 5: Age structure of Amherst’s forests versus an ideal age structure for wildlife 

 
 
Figure 6: Age structure of Amherst’s forests versus theorized pre-colonial forests* 

 
*Estimate based on a major disturbance every 170 years, does not include human or other small disturbances 

Leaving Amherst’s forests continue to grow would allow them to reach the antique age class and begin to 
experience higher levels of natural mortality and blowdowns, akin to the age class distribution in Figure 6. That 

 
1 DeGraaf, R., M. Yamasaki, W.B. Leak, A.M. Lester. 2005. Landowner’s Guide to Wildlife Habitat: Forest Management for the 
New England Region. University Press of New England. 111 pgs. 
2 DeGraaf, R., M. Yamasaki, W.B. Leak, A.M. Lester. 2006. Technical Guide to Forest Wildlife Habitat Management in New 
England. 305 pgs. 
3 Foster, D., G. Motzkin, and B. Slater. 1998. Land-use history as long-term broad-scale disturbance: regional forest dynamic in 
Central New England. Ecosystems (1) 96-119. 
4 Seymour, R., A. White, P. G. deMaynadier. 2002. Natural disturbance regimes in northeastern North America – evaluating 
silvicultural systems using natural scales and frequencies. Forest Ecology and Management (155) 357-67. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Seedling Sapling Pole Sawtimber Large Sawtimber Antique

Age Class Distribution

Current Ideal - Wildlife

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Seedling Sapling Pole Sawtimber Large Sawtimber Antique

Age Class Distribution

Current Pre-Colonial

Page 9 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 8 

approach, however, could delay the creation of younger forest stands for many decades. Furthermore, some 
localized sources of disturbance (e.g., beavers and fire) will probably never return to the levels of the pre-colonial 
era. Thus, wildlife ecologists like DeGraaf argue that a completely “hands-off” approach in contemporary New 
England forests will generally fall short of meeting the potential for providing wildlife habitat. On the other hand, 
some argue that we have yet to understand the ecological diversity that could occur in older forests if we were to 
allow them to mature longer – a rare condition in contemporary New England. 
 
Forests may also be changing as a result of anthropogenic pressures from the surrounding landscape and climate 
change. Human development has multiple effects on our forests including the introduction of invasive species, 
alteration of natural wildlife dynamics (e.g., larger deer populations), edge effects where forests meet developed 
areas, nutrient and pesticide loading from agricultural and residential runoff, air quality impacts, among others. 
Climate change, although still not fully understood at a local level, may result in changes in precipitation volumes 
and timing, as well as higher average and peak air temperatures. All of this can affect the species composition that 
will thrive in our forests in the future. 
 

ACC’s Past Forest Management 
 
ACC began to manage its forests formally in 1998. Active forestry interventions sought to improve timber quality of 
forest stands and provide wildlife with browse and cover. Interventions included group selection openings, low 
thinning and crown thinning. Group selection is the complete removal of all trees in a small area, leaving a forest 
gap where forest regeneration re-starts from the earliest successional stage, thereby diversifying the forest’s 
horizontal diversity and age classes. In low thinnings, trees are removed from the lower crown classes. Low 
thinnings encourage park-like forested habitats with little sunlight reaching the ground. In crown thinning, trees 
are removed from the upper crown class in order to open up the canopy and favor the development of the most 
promising trees in the main canopy. In theory, thinning overstocked forests should generate better conditions for 
further growth of remaining trees with the effect of increasing hard mast production for wildlife, creating a “park-
like” aesthetic for recreationists, and increasing the economic value of remaining trees over time. 
 
Logging techniques have included leaving woody debris on the forest floor to provide nutrients for future years, 
protection of vernal pools with 50-foot buffers, following accepted Best Management Practices for stream 
crossings and wetlands, and the use of small equipment and small log landings to minimize the operating footprint.  
 
Table 1 provides a summary of the interventions between 1998 and 2020. 
 
Table 1: Amherst timber harvest history 1998-2020 

Property Year 
Sawtimber 

Volume 
(bf) 

Cordwood 
Volume 

(cds.) 

Pulpwood 
Volume 
(tons) 

Net 
Revenue 

($) 
Silvicultural Systems 

Caesar’s Brook 1998 119,765 12 114 10,794 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning, Group Selection Openings 
Haseltine 1999 149,315 128 376 17,567 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning, Group Selection Openings 
Joe English 2001 132,356 69 58 14,532 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning, Group Selection Openings 
Woolsey 2005 59,685 0 91 6,698 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning, Group Selection Openings 
Boutelle 2008 262,970 120 0 33,042 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning, Group Selection Openings 
Pond Parish 2010 75,350 76 155 6,809 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning 
Dacquino 2012 106,165 48 409 11,356 Low Thinning, Crown Thinning, Group Selection Openings 
Caesar’s Brook 2014 92,315 24 100 5,687 Group Selection Openings 
Betty Arnold 2016 226,625 414 205 30,567 Group Selection Openings 
Haseltine 2016 213,770 24 197 21,566 Hemlock Salvage Cutting, Group Selection Openings 
Joe English 2018 205,060 0 106 7,864 Hemlock Salvage Cutting 
Totals  1,438,521 915 1,811 166,482  

 
 
 
ACC first harvested Caesar’s Brook and Haseltine in 1998 and 1999, then re-harvested both areas in 2014 and 
2016. Low and crown thinnings were conducted in both areas in the initial harvest. As expected, 10 years later the 
crowns had grown together and were ready for another thinning. Four acres of group-selection openings were cut 

Page 10 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 9 

in Haseltine and 2 acres in Caesar’s Brook. New seedling reproduction in the openings was adequate with black 
birch dominating Caesar’s Brook and red oak and white pine well represented in Haseltine. However, the individual 
openings were small (most were 0.1-0.2 acres) and not enough were created to diversify the forest’s age structure 
substantially. 
 
Starting with the Dacquino harvest in 2012, group selection openings were made larger (0.5 acres) and low and 
crown thinnings were employed only where promising red oak mast trees occurred. And, with the 2014 Caesar’s 
Brook harvest, ACC began to experiment using only group-selection openings, without any thinning. This practice 
continued with the 2016 harvests of Betty Arnold Forest and Haseltine. 
 
An assumption that colder winter temperatures would keep the hemlock wooly adelgid (HWA) south of New 
Hampshire was disproved in the fall of 2016, when a routine pre-marking walk through Haseltine revealed 
moderate to severe infestation. Closer inspection also turned up elongate hemlock scale (EHS) and Sirococcus 
tsugae fungus. A combination of HWA and EHS is generally a death sentence for hemlock trees. ACC conducted a 
salvage harvest of the infested hemlocks in Haseltine that year.  Subsequent examination of hemlocks in Joe 
English also revealed a severe HWA/EHS infestation (along the Hemlock Trail). ACC conducted a salvage harvest 
there during 2017 and 2018. 
 
The results of these interventions have not always been as expected. For example, the initial small group selections 
(<0.25 acre) did not always stimulate regeneration of desirable species, such as oak. ACC increased the size of the 
group selections (0.5 acres) to allow for more sunlight to reach the forest floor and stimulate growth. The result of 
that change in approach has been mixed. Figure 8 shows a larger group selection cut in Haseltine, soon after the 
cut in 2016 and later in 2020. In this cut, regeneration is exuberant and with a mix of species. This site provides 
good wildlife browse for deer and soft mast for bear, cover for small mammals, and open bird and bat habitat that 
differs from the mature forest. Tree regeneration appears to favor black birch; however, some white pine and oak 
saplings can be found interspersed throughout. Overall, this site has been successful in creating habitat diversity 
but may grow into a forest stand that is dominated by black birch rather than oak as intended. A possible cause is 
that deer prefer to eat oak seedlings over black birch. New Hampshire Fish and Game report that the deer 
population has more than tripled in the last 30 years5. Nearby in Daquino Forest, the group selections have not 
regenerated as well as in Haseltine. Initiation of vegetation growth was slow, and eight years after harvest some 
areas remain unvegetated and the vegetated areas are dominated by fern and black birch. In this case, the habitat 
benefits are not as great and the long-term potential appears diminished for regenerating a robust oak forest. 
Figure 9 shows two examples of group selection areas in Daquino in 2020. Again, one likely factor is deer, although 
other factors may also be affecting the regeneration at these sites. 
 
Figure 8: A group selection harvest area in Haseltine in 2016 and 2020 

  
 
Figure 9: Daquino Forest group selection sites dominated by fern (left) and failed regeneration (right) eight years 
after harvest (2020) 

 
5 https://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/hunting/deer-mgt.html (viewed Oct 23, 2020) 

Page 11 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 10 

  
 

ACC’s Forest Management Going Forward 
 
Amherst’s forests provide almost 1,800 acres of intact mature forest representative of southern New Hampshire 
forest types. The intactness of this representative forest ecosystem and the ecological functions it performs, 
including habitat for forest-dependent species, is becoming increasingly important as the surrounding landscape 
becomes more fragmented by development. The Joe English–Betty Arnold–Haseltine–Dacquino complex forms the 
southeast terminus of a large, unfragmented, forested expanse which runs north through the New Boston Air 
Force Station into Mont Vernon and New Boston. Pond Parish forms the western reach of a smaller forest 
extending into the Grater Woods Forest in Merrimack. Considering ACC’s first objective, biodiversity conservation, 
future management interventions should focus on conserving the forest ecosystems and forest-dependent species 
they support. 
 
Over the next twenty years, ACC will determine which interventions are most effective for achieving this objective. 
A degree of patient experimentation will be required to understand how best to diversify forest structure without 
unintended changes to forest species composition due to heavy deer herbivory. To do so, ACC will not commit to 
large-scale systematic interventions at this time, in favor of a more gradual adaptive management approach6. In 
this way, successes can be built upon and failures can be minimized. 
 
In addition, when developing cutting plans for particular sites ACC will integrate wildlife habitat enhancements, as 
appropriate to the objectives of the cut and the ecological attributes of the site. Examples include: 
 

1) Releasing deciduous trees and shrubs for beavers when working near lakes and ponds; 
2) Girdling selected trees around meadows and large open wetland edges for raptor perches; 
3) Retaining snags and cavity trees in the general harvest area; 
4) Leaving downed wood in damp areas and vernal pools for salamanders and reptiles; 
5) Protecting hickories and selected mature oaks for continued hard mast production; 
6) Protecting areas of brambles and blueberry bushes on the south side of meadows at the forest edge for 

soft mass production; 
7) Piling slash for small mammal habitat 

 
ACC re-surveyed the forests it manages during 2018-2020. The field survey included sub-dividing the forests into 
~200 stands and recording information on each. Appendix B details the information collected for each stand, 

 
6 For a concise summary of adaptive management, published by the Department of Interior, see: 
https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/migrated/ppa/upload/Chapter1.pdf 

Page 12 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 11 

including tree species, age classes, stocking density, harvest history, disease and invasive species present, habitat 
attributes – 40 different variables in all. The figures in this section are maps of the stands, as displayed in a 
geographic information system (GIS) – ArcGIS. The GIS allows for map-based storage of ACC’s forest attribute data, 
but more importantly allows for easy visualization and rapid scenario analysis for planning management 
interventions. Further supporting ACC’s forest GIS is the land cover/use and property database and online GIS 
capabilities provided to Amherst by the Nashua Regional Planning Commission7. 
 
Intervention type 1: Control invasive species via herbicidal and mechanical treatments 
 
Presently, exotic invasive species occur in a number of forest stands. The principle impact of invasive species that 
ACC wishes to avoid is crowding out native species and reducing representative biodiversity. One example of a 
damaging effect of invasive species is the displacement of native forage species with exotic species that are less 
nutritious for native wildlife.  Another is physical damage and premature mortality to tree species from 
bittersweet, which can actually cover and kill mature native trees. Exotic invasive species have become a 
permanent feature of our landscape, but they can be controlled via herbicidal and mechanical treatments – the 
selection of which are species- and site-dependent. Unlike other forest management interventions that generate 
revenue that covers their costs and profits for the Amherst Conservation Fund, interventions to control invasive 
species can be costly and generate no revenue. For this reason, such interventions should be judicious, with 
appropriate attention to cost effectiveness and sufficient parsimony to ensure long-term financial sustainability. 
The following areas should be prioritized for treatments within the next five years: 
 

1. Boutelle Forest, stands #7 and #18, for removal of multi-flora rose 
2. Caesar’s Brook, stands #11 and #18, for removal of bittersweet, autumn olive, multifora rose, 

honeysuckle, and swallow wort 
3. Joppa Hill, stand #21, for bittersweet, barberry, and multiflora rose 
4. Pond Parish, stands #13 and 14, for removal of autumn olive, bittersweet, and barberry 

 
Figure 10a: Map of forest stands in Boutelle Forest (left) and Caesar’s Brook (right) 
  

 
 
  

 
7 https://nrpcnh.mapgeo.io/datasets/properties?abuttersDistance=120&latlng=42.803755%2C-71.549492 

Page 13 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 12 

Figure 10b: Map of forest stands in Joppa Hill (left) and Pond Parish (right) 
 

 

 
 
Intervention type 2: Diversify age classes via group-selection harvests and shelterwood 
 
Amherst’s forest stands are largely even-aged due to the local land use and disturbance history. Over the course of 
decades, Amherst’s forests will age and natural mortality and disturbance (e.g., blowdowns) will lead to 
regeneration in the resulting forest gaps. These natural processes diversify the age structure of the forest. If ACC 
chooses, it can accelerate this process via harvests. The advantages of doing so are that more diverse wildlife 
habitat can be created and the forest may become more resilient to pathogens and major blowdowns in the 
future. The long-term effect on forest resiliency to climate change is unknown at this time. 
 
Group-selection harvests involve the removal of all the trees in a given area. Under the direction of a forester, the 
logger removes  the commercial boles, leaves selected dead trees standing for wildlife utilization (“snags”), and 
cuts up and leaves behind the remaining woody debris that serves to reduce soil erosion, release nutrients over 
time, provide diverse micro-climates for seedlings and habitat features for small species of wildlife. The 
appropriate size of group-selection harvests for Amherst’s forests is between 0.5 and 2 acres. A disadvantage of 
this approach is that the regeneration outcomes are variable (likely due to increasing deer herbivory) and may not 
always meet ACC’s expectations, as discussed earlier in this plan. Very careful observation of prior harvests should 
be undertaken to confirm that regeneration outcomes are consistent with ACC’s forest management goals. 
 
Shelterwood harvests remove the majority, but not all, of the mature trees in an area – roughly half of the highest 
quality mature trees remain as a seed source for regeneration. Again, snags and woody debris remain for their 
ecological value. Once regeneration advances to an adequate stage (10 years or longer), the remaining mature 
trees can be removed to open fully the canopy, providing full light to the growing seedlings and saplings, or left to 
grow to biological maturity and contribute further ecological function (mast production, snags, cavity trees). 
Amherst has not performed shelterwood harvests in the past, but a potential advantage is that it should favor any 
advanced regeneration of species that are tolerant of shade as seedlings, such as oak and white pine, giving them 
an advantage in establishing themselves as the dominant species (a challenge faced in group-selection harvests to 
date). An irregular shelterwood harvest can also be applied, where the treatment is conducted in a shifting pattern 
of smaller areas within the stand. 
 
At this time, existing sites of group-selection harvests should be monitored to document and more fully 
understand the long-term regeneration outcomes that can be expected in our forests from this harvest technique. 
Factors such as the deer population should be considered in evaluating these outcomes. Shelterwood harvests 
may be undertaken on an experimental basis to begin developing experience with this technique and collecting 

Page 14 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 13 

data on the outcomes it generates in our forests. Again, a large deer population could have equally negative 
effects on shelterwood forests, a factor that must be studied. For this reason, it is advisable to take a limited and 
experimental approach over the next 10-20 years. 
 
The following areas are prioritized for shelterwood harvests over next 20 years: 
 

1. Joe English Reservation, stand #22 
2. Pond Parish, stand #11 and 15 
3. Boutelle, stands #1, 8, 9 and 10 

 
Figure 11a: Map of forest stands in Joe English  

  
Figure 11b: Map of forest stands in Pond Parish (left) and Boutelle (right) 

 
 
 

Intervention type 3: Reduce stand densities via thinning harvests 
 
Overstocked areas are those where the density of trees exceeds the space available to maximize crown extension 
and growth. This condition will naturally resolve over many decades but can be accelerated by removing a 
percentage of trees and leaving behind healthy individuals with good genetics. In theory, thinning overstocked 
forests should generate better conditions for further growth of remaining trees with the effect of increasing hard 

Page 15 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 14 

mast production for wildlife, creating a “park-like” aesthetic for recreationists, and increasing the economic value 
of remaining trees. This treatment does not directly stimulate forest regeneration. 
 
The following stands could be prioritized for thinning harvests: 
 

1. Haseltine Community Preserve, stands #1 and #16 (entry into this area could be postponed in order to 
balance forestry activities with recreational use of the area, however these stands are suitable for 
thinning now and some amount of “self-thinning” mortality will occur): 

 
Figure 12: Map of forest stands in Haseltine 

 
Intervention type 4: Establish sites for protection of old growth forests 
 
To the extent that ACC determines that very mature, “old growth” forests should have a place in the landscape, it 
will be necessary to identify stands that are appropriate for long-term preservation. This will be necessary to avoid 
harvests in the future, which could occur if this intent is left unstated. Amherst has no stands old enough to be 
considered old growth, therefore preservation of existing stands will require many decades to achieve this status. 
Old growth forests should be valued for more than the presence of mature trees – they may support biological 
diversity and ecological characteristics that are distinct from younger forests. In addition to having suitable 
ecological characteristics for this designation, these stands also have high costs associated with accessing them 
making forest management in them less economically feasible that in others. 
 
The following areas could be prioritized for long-term preservation: 
 

1. Joe English Reservation, stands #9-12, 37-42, and 50 
2. Betty Arnold, stands #28 and 30 

 
Figure 13: Map of forest stands in Joe English (left) and Betty Arnold (right) 

  

Page 16 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 15 

 
Monitoring and Adaptive Management 
 
The recommendations in this plan can and should be revisited and re-analyzed to ensure that the assumptions 
remain correct and to reflect changing conditions (e.g., regeneration outcomes, markets for particular species, 
presence of disease or invasive species, access issues, conflicts with recreation, changes in climate). 
 
ACC’s monitoring will be simple and practical, based on periodic walk-throughs with Amherst’s licensed forester. It 
should cover: 

1) Continuous monitoring for the presence of invasive species; 
2) Continuous monitoring for the presence of pests and disease; and, 
3) Periodic assessments of regeneration in selected previously harvested areas to evaluate species 

composition and growth. 
 
This plan does not include a wildlife monitoring component for two reasons. First, the wildlife response to forest 
management / young forest in New England is well documented already. Second, the manpower and resources 
required to make statistically significant comparisons exceed what ACC is capable of providing. Having said that, 
data collected via methods such as game cameras, bird counts, and other methods undertaken by amateur wildlife 
watchers are certainly welcome if offered. 
 
The following adaptations should be considered when the following conditions are met: 

1) Invasive species treatments in areas with new and significant occurrences of exotic invasive plant species; 
2) Consideration of salvage harvests in stands heavily affected by pests and disease, where appropriate; and, 
3) Alteration or cessation of harvest techniques that do not generate favorable regeneration of target 

species.

Page 17 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 16 

Table 2: Provisional Action Plan (2020-2030) 
Year Task Conditions or Comments 
2020 Monitor regeneration in prior group selection sites in Caesar’s Brook, Haseltine, 

Daquino, Betty Arnold, and Joe English 
Update GIS database with monitoring results 

2021 Mow invasive plants in Caesar’s Brook, stands #11 and #18 
 
Clear invasive plants in Pond Parish, stand #13 and 14 

Remove bittersweet, autumn olive, multiflora rose, honeysuckle, swallow wort 
 

Remove autumn olive, bittersweet, other 
2022 Spray invasive plants in Caesar’s Brook, stands #11 and #18 

 
Plan and conduct shelterwood harvest in Pond Parish, stands #11 and 15 
 
Clear invasive plants in Boutelle, stands #7 and #18 
 
Clear invasive plants in Joppa Hill, stand #21 
 
Monitor invasive plants in Pond Parish, stand #13 and 14 

Remove remaining invasive plants 
 
Ensure adequate public consultation and notification re: recreation impacts 
 
Remove multiflora rose  
 
Remove bittersweet, barberry, multiflora rose 
 
Update GIS database with monitoring results 

2023 Monitor invasive plants in Caesar’s Brook, stands #11 and #18 
 
Monitor invasive plants in Boutelle, stands #7 and #18 
 
Monitor invasive plants in Joppa Hill, stand #21 

Update GIS database with monitoring results 
 
Update GIS database with monitoring results 
 
Update GIS database with monitoring results 

2024 Monitor regeneration in prior group selection sites in Caesar’s Brook, Haseltine, 
Daquino, Betty Arnold, and Joe English 

Update GIS database with monitoring results 

2025 Plan and conduct shelterwood harvest in Boutelle, stands #1, 8, 9, 10  Ensure invasive plants have been adequately managed before proceeding 
Apply alternative/shifting variant in this area 

2026 Conduct thinning harvests in Haseltine, stands #1 and 16 Ensure adequate public consultation and notification re: recreation impacts 
2027   
2028 Monitor regeneration in prior group selection sites in Caesar’s Brook, Haseltine, 

Daquino, Betty Arnold, and Joe English 
 
Evaluate the efficacy of group selection harvesting and determine if/where future 
group selection should be deployed 

Update GIS database with monitoring results 

2029   
2030   
2031 Monitor regeneration at shelterwood site in Pond Parish, stand #13 and #15 Update GIS database with monitoring results 
2032 Re-enter shelterwood site in Pond Parish, stand #11 and 15, remove overstory Only proceed if understory regeneration is adequate 

 
2033   
2034 Monitor recruitment at shelterwood site in Pond Parish, stand #11 and 15 Update GIS database with monitoring results 
2035 Monitor regeneration at shelterwood site in Boutelle, stands #1, 8, 9, 10 Update GIS database with monitoring results 
2036 Re-enter shelterwood site in Boutelle, stands #1, 8, 9, 10, remove overstory, but 

conserve selected antique white pines 
Only proceed if understory regeneration is adequate 
 

2037   
2038 Monitor recruitment at shelterwood site in Boutelle, stands #1, 8, 9, 10 Update GIS database with monitoring results 
2039 Plan and conduct shelterwood harvest in Joe English, stand #22 Only proceed if shelterwood experiments in Pond Parish and Boutelle succeed 

 

Page 18 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 17 

Ensure adequate public consultation and notification re: recreation impacts 
2040 Update all stand information in GIS database Visit all stands in ACC-managed forests and update database 

Page 19 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 18 

Appendix A: Wildlife Species of Conservation Concern and Habitat Associations 
 

 
 

Potential Species - Common Name Taxonomic Group NH Status Habitats More Info

Blanding's Turtle Amphibians and Reptiles SE, SGCN

Floodplain Habitats, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Peatlands, Temperate Swamps, Vernal 

Pools http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/blandings-turtle.html

Blue-Spotted/Jefferson Salamander Amphibians and Reptiles SC, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 

Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, 

Peatlands, Temperate Swamps, Vernal Pools http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/blue-spotted-salamander.html

Eastern Box Turtle Amphibians and Reptiles SC, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Grasslands, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Marsh and 

Shrub Wetlands, Shrublands, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/box-turtle.html

Eastern Hog-nosed Snake Amphibians and Reptiles SE, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Marsh and Shrub 

Wetlands, Pine Barrens, Shrublands, Vernal Pools http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/hognose-snake.html

Eastern Ribbonsnake Amphibians and Reptiles SGCN Floodplain Habitats, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Peatlands, Vernal Pools http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/ribbon-snake.html

Fowler's Toad Amphibians and Reptiles SC, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Dunes, Large Warmwater Rivers, Marsh and Shrub 

Wetlands, Pine Barrens, Shrublands, Vernal Pools, Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, 

Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/fowlers-toad.html

Marbled Salamander Amphibians and Reptiles SE, SGCN Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Vernal Pools http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/marbled-salamander.html

Northern Black Racer Amphibians and Reptiles ST, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Grasslands, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Rocky Ridge, 

Cliff, and Talus, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/black-racer-snake.html

Northern Leopard Frog Amphibians and Reptiles SC, SGCN

Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Floodplain Habitats, Grasslands, Lakes and Ponds with 

Coldwater Habitats, Large Warmwater Rivers, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Shrublands, 

Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/leopard-frog.html

Smooth Greensnake Amphibians and Reptiles SC, SGCN

Grasslands, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Peatlands, Rocky Ridge, Cliff, and Talus, Rocky 

Ridge, Cliff, and Talus, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/smooth-green-snake.html

Spotted Turtle Amphibians and Reptiles ST, SGCN

Floodplain Habitats, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Peatlands, Temperate Swamps, Vernal 

Pools http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/spotted-turtle.html

Wood Turtle Amphibians and Reptiles SC, SGCN

Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Floodplain Habitats, Grasslands, Shrublands, 

Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wood-turtle.html

American Black Duck Birds SGCN

Lakes and Ponds, Rivers and Streams, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Northern Swamps, 

Peatlands, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-americanblackduck.pdf

American Kestrel Birds SC, SGCN Developed Habitats, Grasslands, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/american-kestrel.html

American Kestrel Birds SC, SGCN Developed Habitats, Grasslands, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/american-kestrel.html

American Woodcock Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Marsh and Shrub 

Wetlands, Northern Swamps, Shrublands, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/woodcock.html

Bald Eagle Birds ST, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 

High Elevation Spruce-Fir Forest, Lakes and Ponds, Rivers and Streams, Lowland Spruce-

Fir Forest, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/bald-eagle.html

Bank Swallow Birds SC, SGCN

Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Grasslands, Lakes and Ponds with Coldwater Habitats, 

Large Warmwater Rivers, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-bankswallow.pdf

Bay-breasted Warbler Birds SGCN

High Elevation Spruce-Fir Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-

Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, Peatlands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-baybreastedwarbler.pdf

Black-billed Cuckoo Birds SGCN Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Pine Barrens, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-blackbilledcuckoo.pdf

Blue-winged Warbler Birds SC, SGCN Pine Barrens, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-bluewingedwarbler.pdf

Bobolink Birds SGCN Grasslands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-bobolink.pdf

Brown Thrasher Birds SGCN Pine Barrens, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-brownthrasher.pdf

Canada Warbler Birds SGCN

Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-

Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-canadawarbler.pdf

Chimney Swift Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Developed Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 

Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-chimneyswift.pdf

Eastern Meadowlark Birds SC, SGCN Grasslands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-easternmeadowlark.pdf

Eastern Towhee Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Peatlands, Pine Barrens, Rocky Ridge, Cliff, and Talus, 

Rocky Ridge, Cliff, and Talus, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-easterntowhee.pdf

Eastern Whip-poor-will Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Northern Hardwood-

Conifer Forest, Pine Barrens, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-easternwhippoorwill.pdf

Field Sparrow Birds SGCN Pine Barrens, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-fieldsparrow.pdf

Golden Eagle Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, High Elevation Spruce-

Fir Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Rocky Ridge, 

Cliff, and Talus http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/golden-eagle.html

Grasshopper Sparrow Birds ST, SGCN Grasslands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-grasshoppersparrow.pdf

Page 20 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 19  

Northern Goshawk Birds SGCN
Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir 
Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/northern-goshawk.html

Pied-billed Grebe Birds ST, SGCN Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Peatlands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-piedbilledgrebe.pdf
Prairie Warbler Birds SGCN Pine Barrens, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-prariewarbler.pdf

Purple Finch Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
High Elevation Spruce-Fir Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-
Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-purplefinch.pdf

Ruffed Grouse Birds SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Grasslands, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Lowland 
Spruce-Fir Forest, Marsh and Shrub Wetlands, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, 
Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-ruffedgrouse.pdf

Scarlet Tanager Birds SGCN
Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Northern Hardwood-
Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-scarlettanager.pdf

Veery Birds SGCN
Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-veery.pdf

Vesper Sparrow Birds SC, SGCN Grasslands, Pine Barrens http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-vespersparrow.pdf

Wood Thrush Birds SGCN
Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/birds-woodthrush.pdf

American Bumble Bee Bumble Bees SGCN Developed Habitats, Grasslands, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-americanbumbleebee.pdf
Rusty-patched Bumble Bee Bumble Bees SGCN Developed Habitats, Grasslands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-rustypatchedbumblebee.pdf
Yellow Bumble Bee Bumble Bees SGCN Developed Habitats, Grasslands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-yellowbumblebee.pdf
Yellowbanded Bumble Bee Bumble Bees SGCN Developed Habitats, Grasslands, Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-yellowbandedbumblebee.pdf
Monarch Butterflies and Moths Review Developed Habitats, Grasslands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-monarch.pdf
Noctuid Moth Butterflies and Moths SGCN Pine Barrens http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-pinebarrenlepidoptera.pdf
Pine Barrens Bluet Dragonflies and Damselflies SC, SGCN Peatlands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-pinebarrensbluet.pdf

Ringed Boghaunter Dragonflies and Damselflies SE, SGCN
Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, Marsh and Shrub 
Wetlands, Peatlands, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/insects-ringedboghaunter.pdf

American Water Shrew Mammals SGCN Northern Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-americanwatershrew.pdf

Big Brown Bat Mammals SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Caves and Mines, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock 
Hardwood Pine Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, 
Northern Swamps, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-bigbrownbat.pdf

Eastern Red Bat Mammals SC, SCGN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, 
Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-easternredbat.pdf

Eastern Small-footed Bat Mammals SE, SGCN
Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Caves and Mines, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Rocky Ridge, Cliff, and Talus http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-easternsmallfootedbat.pdf

Hoary Bat Mammals SC, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, 
Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-hoarybat.pdf

Little Brown Bat Mammals SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Caves and Mines, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, Pine 
Barrens, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/bats.html

Long-tailed Shrew Mammals SGCN High Elevation Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-longtailedshrew.pdf

Moose Mammals SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
High Elevation Spruce-Fir Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Marsh and Shrub 
Wetlands, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Swamps, Shrublands, Lakes and Ponds http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/moose.html

New England Cottontail Mammals SE, SGCN Shrublands http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/ne-cottontail.html

Silver-Haired Bat Mammals SC, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock Hardwood Pine Forest, 
Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, Northern Swamps, 
Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-silverhairedbat.pdf

Southern Bog Lemming Mammals SGCN Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-southernboglemming.pdf

Tricolored Bat Mammals SC, SGCN

Appalachian Oak-Pine Forest, Caves and Mines, Floodplain Habitats, Hemlock 
Hardwood Pine Forest, Lowland Spruce-Fir Forest, Northern Hardwood-Conifer Forest, 
Northern Swamps, Temperate Swamps http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/wap/mammals-tricoloredbat.pdf

American Eel Fish SC, SGCN
Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Lakes and Ponds with Coldwater Habitats, Large 
Warmwater Rivers, Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/american-eel.html

Banded Sunfish Fish SC, SGCN Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/banded-sunfish.html

Bridle Shiner Fish ST, SGCN
Lakes and Ponds with Coldwater Habitats, Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater 
Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/bridal-shiner.html

Eastern Brook Trout Fish SGCN Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Lakes and Ponds with Coldwater Habitats http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/brook-trout.html
Redfin Pickerel Fish SC, SGCN Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/redfin-pikerel.html

Sea Lamprey Fish SC, SGCN
Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Estuarine, Large Warmwater Rivers, Marine, Warmwater 
Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/sea-lamprey.html

Swamp Darter Fish SC, SGCN Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/fishing/profiles/swamp-darter.html
Brook Floater Freshwater Mussels SE, SGCN Large Warmwater Rivers, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/brook-floater-mussel.html

Creeper Freshwater Mussels SGCN
Coldwater Rivers and Streams, Lakes and Ponds with Coldwater Habitats, Large 
Warmwater Rivers, Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/creeper-mussel.html

Eastern Pearlshell Freshwater Mussels SGCN Coldwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/eastern-pearlshell.html

Triangle Floater Freshwater Mussels SGCN Large Warmwater Rivers, Warmwater Lakes and Ponds, Warmwater Rivers and Streams http://www.wildlife.state.nh.us/wildlife/profiles/triangle-floater.html

Page 21 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 20 

Appendix B: Data Fields for ACC’s Forest Stand Database  
  
ACC POLYGON DATA DICTIONARY – Information featured in the description is primarily qualitative; they are not 
intended to provide numerical indices  
 
1. Has this area been harvested:  Yes/No 
2. If yes, what year was this area harvested: enter year 
3. Next Anticipated Harvest: enter year 
4. Next Reevaluation: enter year 
5. Categorize the Type of Harvest : (enter 1) low thinning, crown thinning, shelterwood, group selection opening, 
salvage, other ) 
6. If Other: (list, provide more detail) 
7. Categorize the Timber Type: (chose as many as needed) Hardwood, White Pine, Red Oak, Hemlock, Field, 
Wetland (list type), Other  
8. If Hardwood or Other: (list, provide more detail) – i.e. Es (Early Successional) 
9. Categorize the Size Class: (enter 1) Seedling, Sapling, Pole, Sawtimber, Large Sawtimber, Antique 
Seedling (>50% of dominant trees ≤2” dbh) - approx. 0-15 yrs. 
Sapling  (>50% of dominant trees ≤6” dbh) - approx. 15-30 yrs. 
Pole  (>50% of dominant trees ≥8” dbh) - approx. 30-50 yrs. 
Sawtimber (>50% of dominant trees ≥12” dbh) - approx. 50-80 yrs. 
Large Sawtimber (>50% of dominant trees ≥18” dbh) - approx. 80-100 yrs. 
Antique (>50% of dominant trees ≥24” dbh) – approx. 100+ years 
 

 
 
10. Categorize the Canopy Stocking:  (choose 1) none, understocked, adequately stocked, overstocked 
None – canopy absent; generally with surrounding forest matrix  
Understocked – canopy closure is less than 50%; promotes advance regeneration and browse development 
Adequately Stocked – canopy closure is at the optimum for growth of high quality sawtimber; generally does not 
need cutting; dappled sunlight reaches ground 
Overstocked – canopy at or near the maximum canopy closure; has the highest priority for treatment 
11. Provide more Detail (dominant/codominant canopy species): (list in descending order) 
Dominant – trees with crown extending above the general level of the crown cover and receiving full light from 
above and almost full light from the sides; crowns wide and relatively full 
Codominant – trees with crowns forming the general level of the crown cover and receiving full light from above; 
crowns wide and full but inferior to dominant’s density and spread  
12. Provide more detail (overtopped/intermediate canopy species: (list in descending order) 
Intermediate – trees usually shorter than the dominants and codominants, but crowns sometime extending into the 
crown cover formed by the dominants and codominants; crowns usually small   
Overtopped – trees with crowns always below the general level of the crown cover; crowns usually small 
13. Categorize the Midstory Stocking: (choose 1) none, understocked, adequately stocked, overstocked 
14. Provide more detail (midstory species): (list in descending order) 
15. Categorize the Regeneration Stocking: (choose 1) none, understocked, adequately stocked, overstocked 

Page 22 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 21 

16. Provide more detail (regeneration Species): (list – timber species only in descending order) 
17. Invasives Present: Yes/No 
18. If yes, Level of Infestation: (choose 1) high, medium, low 
19. If yes Provide more detail: (list in descending order) 
20. Are there any Logging Conflicts:  (choose 1) No, Yes_Aesthetic, Yes_Recreation, Yes_Natural  
21. If Yes provide more detail: (list in descending order)  
22. Categorize the Terrain:  (choose 1) inaccessible, steep, moderate, flat  
Inaccessible – not able to log due to no access, excessively steep slopes (>40%), or other extreme natural features 
such as ledge, cliffs, and water bodies 
Steep – slopes generally >30%, may have an abundance of rocky and/ or bouldery terrain 
Moderate – slopes generally between 10-30%, may have a limited amount rocky or bouldery terrain 
Flat – slopes generally <10%, may have rocky or bouldery terrain, but is sparse 
23. Categorize the Skid Distance to Nearest Landing: (choose 1) Good (0’-1,000)’, Fair (1,000’-2,500)’, Poor 
(>2,500)’, no access 
24. Is there Insects/Disease: Yes/No 
25. If yes, level of infestation: (choose 1) high, medium, low 
26. If yes Provide more detail: (list in descending order) 
 
Qualitatively assess the following wildlife features: 
none –  absent 
low – overall low abundance 
medium – feature present, but not abundant 
high –  an abundance of feature  
 
27.Categorize the Hard Mast: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
Hard fruit – acorns, beechnuts, hickory nuts, etc. 
28. Provide more detail - Hard Mast: (list species in descending order)  
29. Categorize the Soft Mast: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
Soft fleshy fruits – apple, cherry, blueberry, etc. 
30. Provide more detail - Soft Mast: (list species in descending order)  
31. Categorize the Understory: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
32. Provide more detail - Understory: (list – include woody shrubs, herbaceous plants, and groundcover in 
descending order)  
33. Categorize the Cover: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
34. Provide more detail - Cover: (list)- left blank  
(Generally a combination of Regeneration and Woody Shrubs) 
35. Categorize the Snags: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
36. Provide more detail - Snags: (list species if identifiable in descending order)  
37. Categorize the Cavity Trees: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
38. Provide more detail – Cavity Trees: (list species if identifiable in descending order)  
39. Categorize the Dead & Down: (choose 1) none, low, medium, high 
40. Provide more detail – Dead & Down: (list type in descending order)  
brk – breakage (parts of trees that have broken off; generally branches) 
bd – blowdown (trees that have either broken off from the main stem and fell to the ground or have been blown 
over; usually with root ball intact) 
se – stem exclusion (natural mortality due to plant competition) 
sl – slash ( parts of trees that have been left behind after logging; generally tree branches) 
 
 
 

Page 23 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 22 

 
 

 
 CANOPY (understocked)    CANOPY (overstocked)  

 
 
 

 
 MIDSTORY STOCKING (low)   MIDSTORY STOCKING (medium) 

 

1. Overstory = Canopy 
2. Woody Understory = Regeneration & Woody Shrubs 
3. Woody Understory & Herbaceous  Understory = Browse  
4. Regeneration & Browse = Cover 
 
 

Page 24 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 23 

 
 REGENERATION STOCKING (none)   REGENERATION STOCKING (high) 

 

 
 UNDERSTORY (low)     UNDERSTORY (high) 
 COVER ( a combination of regeneration and shrubs) 
 

 
 HARD MAST (acorn)    SOFT MAST (blueberry) 

 

Page 25 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 24 

 
SNAGS 

 

 
CAVITY TREES 

 

 
 DEAD & DOWN (breakage & blowdown)  DEAD & DOWN (stem exclusion) 

Page 26 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 25 

 
 DEAD & DOWN (breakage)   DEAD & DOWN (slash)  

 
 
Codes for Data Dictionary 
 

letter code Data Name  letter code Data Name 
ao Autumn Olive    
ap Apple    
as Aspen    
ay Ash Yellows   Timber Type 
ba Barberry  Ad Administrative Site 
bb Burning Bush  Es Early Successional  
bbc Black Birch Canker  Ew Emergent Wetland 
bbd Beech Bark disease  Few Fern Wetland 
bd Blowdown  Fi Field 
be Beech  Fw Forested Wetland 
bev beaver impoundment  Hk Hemlock 
bg Black Gum  Hw Mixed Hardwood 
bc Black Cherry  La Landing 
bh Beaked Hazelnut  Ot Other   
bi Bittersweet  Ro Red Oak   
bo Black Oak  Ss Scrub-Shrub Wetland 
bou Boulders  Wa Water 
br Brambles  Wp White Pine  
brk Breakage    
bu Buckthorn    
bw Basswood    
ce Cedar   Harvest Type 
ch Chestnut  Cc Clear Cut 
co Chestnut Oak  Ct Crown Thinning 
fe Fern  Gs Group Selection Harvest 
cm Clubmoss  Ic Improvement Cutting 
el Elm  Lt Low Thinning 
fo Forb  Sal Salvage 
gb Grey Birch  Sl Selection Thinning 
gr Grass    
grp Grape    
ha Hawthorne    
hb Highbush Blueberry   Size Class 
hi Hickory  Se Seedling Size Class 
hik Hiking  Sa Sapling Size Class 
hk Hemlock  Po Pole Size Class 
ho Houselot  St Sawtimber Size Class 
hop Hophornbeam  Ls Large Sawtimber Size Class 
hs Honeysuckle  At Antique Size Class 
hwa Hemlock Wooly Adelgid    
lb Lowbush Blueberry    

Page 27 of 200



Forest Management Plan for Amherst, NH (2020-2040) 

 26 

le Ledge    
li Lichen    
mb Mountain Bike    
ml Mountain Laurel    
mo Moss    
mr Multi Flora Rose    
na no access    
pb Partridgeberry    
pp Pitch Pine    
rf Road Frontage    
rm Red (soft) Maple    
ro Red Oak    
sa Sassafras    
sb Sweet (black) Birch    
se Stem Exclusion    
sf Sweet Fern    
sl Slash    
slo Slope    
sm Sugar (hard) Maple    
stm Striped Maple    
sw Swallowwort    
vi Viburnum    
vs Viewshed    
wa White Ash    
wb  White Birch    
wet Wet    
wh Witch Hazel    
wo  White Oak    
wp White Pine    
wpn White Pine Needle Cast    
yb Yellow Birch    

 

Page 28 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Administrative Updates Department: Administration
Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
None

Page 29 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: PILOT agreement with Parkhurst 
Place

Department: Administration

Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The Board of Selectmen have negotiated an updated Payment In Lieu of Taxes with 
the Souhegan Valley Interfaith Housing Corporation, the owner of Parkhurst Place 
Limited Partnership. 
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
I move we approve the attached Payment In Lieu of Taxes with Souhegan Valley 
Interfaith Housing Corp.  
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:
NA 

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Parkhurst Place Final PILOT agreement to BOS 3-18-21

Page 30 of 200



1

TOWN OF AMHERST 

AGREEMENT RELATIVE TO PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES 

This AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into on March ____, 2021, by and 
between the Town of Amherst, a New Hampshire municipality with a mailing address of 2 Main 
Street, Amherst, New Hampshire 03031 (the “Town”) and Souhegan Valley Interfaith Housing 
Corporation, a New Hampshire nonprofit corporation with a mailing address of 11 Veterans Road, 
Unit 100, Amherst, New Hampshire 03031 (“Sponsor”), collectively the “Parties”.

WHEREAS, Sponsor was formed by local town residents and churches in 2001 as a New 
Hampshire nonprofit corporation under RSA Ch. 292 to provide affordable housing for the elderly 
in the Amherst, NH, area;

WHEREAS, Parkhurst Place Limited Partnership, a New Hampshire Limited Partnership 
(“Owner”), has been, and remains, the owner of property located in the Town of Amherst known 
as Parkhurst Place at 11 Veterans Road, Amherst, NH, identified on the Town’s tax records as Tax 
Map 2, Lot 94 (the “Property”), on which Property improvements were constructed in 2001-2002 
in the form of a senior, low-income residential housing facility;

WHEREAS, the Owner currently has two partners: a general partner and a limited partner; 

WHEREAS, the general partner, Parkhurst Place, Inc., is a New Hampshire domestic 
business corporation organized in 2001 under RSA Ch. 293-A by Sponsor, and it was and 
continues to be wholly owned by Sponsor and has and continues to function as general partner of 
Owner (“GP”);

WHEREAS, Owner was also formed by Sponsor in December 2001 under RSA Ch. 304-
B as a partnership between the GP and a for-profit, low-income housing tax credit investor 
(“Investor Limited Partner”) who provided funding to the Owner to develop the Property in 
exchange for federal tax credits pursuant to Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code; 

WHEREAS, effective November 30, 2020, Sponsor became the sole limited partner of 
Owner through buying out the interests of the Investor Limited Partner so that the Property is no 
longer subject to or governed by the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit program under Section 42 
of the Internal Revenue Code;

WHEREAS, as a result of Sponsor owning one hundred percent (100%) of the ownership 
equity and control of the GP and being sole limited partner of Owner, Sponsor now effectively 
owns and operates the Property as a forty-two (42) unit, age-restricted senior affordable housing 
facility whereby (i) 22 of the units are currently leased to households with incomes at or below 
60% of the area median income (“AMI”) and (ii) the remaining 20 units are currently available to 
seniors at up to market rental rates (“Unrestricted Units”), as established by contract and 
covenant, running with the land, with the New Hampshire Housing Finance Authority; 

WHEREAS, Sponsor represents that all Unrestricted Units are currently leased to seniors 
at less than market rents and instead leased to households at or below 80% of AMI;

Page 31 of 200



2

WHEREAS, Sponsor represents that the Property is a charitable, nonprofit community 
housing facility for elderly and disabled persons and that it intends to continue the practice of 
leasing all units at the Property at rental rates at or below 80% of AMI; 

WHEREAS, Sponsor makes certain common area facilities at the Property, such as the so-
called community room, available to its tenants and to the community at large for gatherings of 
benefit and interest to its tenants and to the general public at no cost to them;  

WHEREAS, Sponsor has represented to the Town that it has an independent board of 
directors and actively controls and oversees the GP and the management of the Property;

WHEREAS, subject to these facts and the terms below, the Town’s Board of Selectmen 
has determined that the Property is currently eligible for and entitled to pay a sum in lieu of taxes 
pursuant to RSA 72:23-k;

NOW THEREFORE, pursuant to RSA 72:23-k, in consideration of the mutual promises 
herein contained, as well as other valuable consideration, the Parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Classification of Property.  So long as this Agreement is in effect, the Town will 
classify the Property as qualifying for the exemption provided by RSA 72:23-k and, 
pursuant thereto, will cause a bill to be generated to Owner in the PILOT Amount defined 
below, payable on or before December 1 of each successive year, commencing with 
December 1, 2021. 

2. Amount of Payment in Lieu of Taxes.  Each bill issued by the Town shall require 
Owner to pay an amount equal to (a) the then-current municipal, non-school and county 
government portions of the local tax rate applicable to the tax year of the bill, against (i.e., 
multiplied by) (b) the net local assessed value of the Property in the tax year of the bill as 
if the Property were subject to taxation at its full and true market value (such amount each 
year, the “PILOT Amount”). The “full and true market value” shall mean the property’s 
full and true value as the same would be appraised in payment of a just debt due from a 
solvent debtor (RSA 75:1). The Town shall receive from Owner upon the Town’s request 
all evidence relative to the market value of the Property, inclusive of all sources of income, 
to assist the Town in developing the assessed value. It is understood and agreed that the 
PILOT Amount shall not include any portion of the levy known as the “statewide property 
tax.”

3. Taxes for 2019 and 2020.  The Town shall determine the PILOT Amounts that 
would have been due from Owner for the 2019 and 2020 tax years as if this Agreement had 
been in effect earlier for those tax years. The Town, by action taken by its Board of 
Selectmen on or before March 22, 2021, shall:

a. Pursuant to RSA 76:16, issue a tax abatement for any taxes paid to 
the Town by Owner with respect to the Property for the 2019 and 2020 tax years to 
the extent that the taxes paid for such years are in excess of the PILOT Amounts 
applicable to such tax years, plus statutory interest accrued thereon, if any, as set 
forth in RSA 76:17-a; and

Page 32 of 200



3

b. Authorize and require the Town’s tax collector to promptly release 
that certain tax lien filed against the Property in the Hillsborough County Registry 
of Deeds at Book 9345, Page 1450.

4. Termination of Agreement.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement by 
providing written notice to the other Party, before April 1 of any given year, of intent to 
terminate this Agreement, pursuant to which this Agreement will not be applicable to the 
forthcoming tax year. In the event of a termination by a Party, each Party shall thereupon 
become entitled to exercise any right to assess taxes, or to claim an exemption or an 
abatement from taxes, on the Property, as available to any such Party pursuant to applicable 
law. 

5. Annual Information and Filing Requirements.  It is understood that Sponsor 
shall be responsible for annual filings and submission of information typically required to 
support a real estate tax exemption pursuant to RSA 72:23, VI and 23-c. In accordance 
therewith, during the term of this Agreement, Sponsor shall file with the Town’s Board of 
Selectmen:

a. Prior to April 15 of each year (or as state law then requires if such 
law has been amended hereafter), a list of all real estate and personal property 
owned by Sponsor at the Property to which this Agreement pertains, in the form 
prescribed and provided by the New Hampshire Board of Tax and Land Appeals 
pursuant to RSA 72:23-c. 

b. On or before June 1 of each year, a statement of Sponsor’s financial 
condition along with a statement of the financial condition of the GP, applicable to 
the preceding fiscal year in the form prescribed and provided by the New 
Hampshire Board of Tax and Land Appeals. These financial statements shall be 
accompanied with such other information as may be required by the Town pursuant 
to RSA 72:23-c, which may include but not be limited to:

i. Updated by-laws governing Sponsor and the GP;
ii. Updated lists identifying the officers and directors governing 

Sponsor and the GP;
iii. Copies of minutes of regularly-scheduled meetings held in the 

preceding year showing the actions and considerations by 
Sponsor’s board of directors in governing the GP and managing 
the Property;

iv. Any changes to the management, governing and operating 
documents or structure of Sponsor or the GP, including 
amendments to articles of incorporation;

v. The then-current rental rates for residents at the Property, as 
well as how those rates relate to resident incomes or the AMI;

vi. Benefits and services provided by Sponsor in the preceding 
fiscal year to the tenants at the Property beyond rent relief; and

vii. Benefits provided by Sponsor to the community at large, such 
as use of the community room. 

Page 33 of 200



4

6. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the 
Parties regarding the subject matter hereof.

7. Amendment.  This Agreement shall only be amended by a writing duly authorized 
and executed by the Parties.

8. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 
of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute one and 
the same document.  Any signature to this Agreement delivered via facsimile, electronic 
mail, or in pdf format shall be deemed an original for all purposes.

Signature pages follow

Page 34 of 200



Town of Amherst and SVIHC/Parkhurst Place Limited Partnership PILOT Agreement
Board of Selectmen Signature Page

5
17185830.2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement effective as of March ___, 
2021.

TOWN OF AMHERST

By: Its Board of Selectmen

By:________________________
Peter Lyon, Chairman 

By:________________________
Dwight Brew, Vice Chair

By:________________________
Reed Panasiti, Selectman

By:________________________
Tom Grella, Selectman

By:________________________
John D’Angelo, Selectman

Page 35 of 200



Town of Amherst and SVIHC/Parkhurst Place Limited Partnership PILOT Agreement
SVIHC Signature Page

6
17185830.2

SOUHEGAN VALLEY INTERFAITH
HOUSING CORPORATION, for itself and on 
behalf of Parkhurst Place Limited Partnership

By:  Its Board of Directors

_________________________________________
Richard Katzenberg  

__________________________________________
Cynthia Dokmo  

_________________________________________
Janet Johnson  

__________________________________________
Albert C. Fach 

__________________________________________
Paul Spiess 

Page 36 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Forestview Cemetery, Andrew Mullin 
Eagle Scout Project

Department: Public Works

Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Forestview Cemetery - Andrew Mullin - 2021-03-02

Page 37 of 200



Forestview Cemetery
Eagle Scout Project

Andrew Mullin

Page 38 of 200



• Andrew Mullin, an Amherst resident and scout with Troop 4 in 
Milford, is planning to build a circular seating area along with two 
granite benches and a flagpole at Forestview Cemetery

• Andrew is working closely with the Cemetery Board of Trustees and 
the DPW on this project

• The current plan is for this project to be complete and to hold a public 
flag raising on Flag Day – Monday, June 14  

• A number of local businesses, civic organizations and individuals are 
providing support to Andrew with this effort

• The Board of Selectmen will want to accept this gift once the project 
is completed, but I think it would make sense to go on record at this 
point as appreciative and supportive of this project

Page 39 of 200



Page 40 of 200



Page 41 of 200



Page 42 of 200



Page 43 of 200



Page 44 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Road Reconstruction - RFP award Department: Public Works
Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: Eric Hahn

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
DPW structured the road reconstruction RFP differently this year.   Due to the 
uncertainty of the upcoming town meeting and results, DPW reserved the ability in the 
contract to add and delete road segments even after the award of the contract.  We 
asked for base line bids according to individual road segments according to the 
estimated quantities and methods we provided in the RFP.  We sent the RFP to a 
number of contractors.  At the bid opening we received one bid submitted.  Another 
contractor, Pike Industries was present for the opening and volunteered that they had 
been very interested in the RFP but could not find a partner suitable to their needs to 
make a submission.  It is apparent that other qualified contractors were uncomfortable 
with the terms we laid out for our own flexibility and funding uncertainty.  The baseline 
bid submission from Continental Paving Incorporated for all of the road segments listed 
is $1,509,655.50.  Though this amount is within the anticipated funding available, even 
presuming a default budget for next fiscal year, that, along with the $521,000 available 
within the current fiscal year.  DPW proposes that the BOS consider awarding at this 
time a contract with a value of $1,300,000, which will allow the following roads to be 
rebuilt:  Christian Hill from Green Road to Rt 13, Dodge Rd from Mackhill to end of 
pavement near the DPW yard and a through route from Dodge Road to Rt 101 - 
following Blueberry to Bayberry, Bayberry full length to Blueberry and Blueberry to Rt 
101.  Further road segments can be considered after the results of town meeting are 
known. This strategy will leave $421,000 of uncommitted funds in the event of a default 
budget and other town obligations that may reduce the road rebuild line and $521,000 
of uncommitted funds if the budget passes.  This RFP stipulated that any awarded 
segments of road need to be completed before winter, another RFP will be published 
next year.   Another facet of this years RFP is the awareness that DPW has of rising 
fuel prices and liquid asphalt prices and a desire to limit the contract to one construction 
season.      
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
$1,300,000.  Of which $521,000 is the balance of current fiscal year budget and 
$779,000 of the next fiscal year's budget.
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
DPW desires to stay on track for the road plan without over obligating the town.
 

Page 45 of 200



DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
Award a contract to Continental Paving for the amount of $1,300,000.
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:
I am concerned about a project worth over a $1 million dollars being awarded on the 
basis of a single bid.  Continental has had the contract for several years, the last two 
being the result of extensions without bids.  When we then do bid it out it the 
appearance of having only one bidder is that we either intentionally wrote the bid so 
that only one company could meet the bid requirements or that other bidders have a 
reason to think it is a waste of time because they believe only one bidder will be 
seriously considered.  Even if neither of these things are technically true the 
appearance is certainly there.  

ATTACHMENTS:
1. CPI Bid
2. CPI award form 05-21

Page 46 of 200



Page 47 of 200



Page 48 of 200



Page 49 of 200



Page 50 of 200



Page 51 of 200



Page 52 of 200



Page 53 of 200



Page 54 of 200



Page 55 of 200



Page 56 of 200



Page 57 of 200



Page 58 of 200



Page 59 of 200



Page 60 of 200



Page 61 of 200



Page 62 of 200



Page 63 of 200



Page 64 of 200



Page 65 of 200



Page 66 of 200



Page 67 of 200



Page 68 of 200



Page 69 of 200



Page 70 of 200



Page 71 of 200



Page 72 of 200



Page 73 of 200



Page 74 of 200



Page 75 of 200



Page 76 of 200



Page 77 of 200



Page 78 of 200



Page 79 of 200



Page 80 of 200



TOWN OF AMHERST
         

Town Department:   DPW Date:  March 16, 2021

Line Item: 01—4312-70-2730   ($521,201.20 FY21 & $779,000 FY22) Budget Amount:  $1,300,000

Bid #: 05-21 Item: Multi Road Construction Date Bid To Be Awarded:  March 22, 2021

 VENDOR Name and Address    PRICE/UNIT    TOTAL                OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
                                                                   Interest Rate                                                     

Recommend bid be awarded to:  Continental Paving, Inc. 
                                                                                                                                         Signature of Town Administrator / Date

Please attach to this request a copy of the specifications and proposal from the lowest qualified bidder.
Please forward, for review purposes, a copy of bids in excess of $10,000.00 to the Board of Selectmen at least one week prior 
to a vote of the Board of Selectmen.  

         Busby Construction
1.      71 NH Route 111
         Atkinson, NH 03811                                                                         NO BID SUBMITTED                                                   
                                                           
         Continental Paving, Inc.
2.      1 Continental Drive
         Londonderry NH  03053 $1,509,655.90                                                     

            
                   

         Hudson Paving, Excavation, Inc.        
3.      19 Barretts Hill Rd
         Hudson NH  03051                                                                         NO BID SUBMITTED    

                       
                   

4.      Pike Industries
         3 Eastgate Rd.
         Belmont NH 03220                                                                         NO BID SUBMITTED

Interested, but could not find a 
suitable partner

                   
.

                     

5.       R. S. Audley, Inc.
          1113 Route 3A
          Bow NH  03304                                                                              NO BID SUBMITTED

Page 81 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Utility Revaluation Bid Department: Assessing
Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: Gail Stout

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Two proposals were received in response to a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the Revaluation of 
Utilities due for submission at the Town of Amherst prior to March 1, 2021.   The results are as 
follows:
 
                                                    1 Year Contract                        5 Year Contract

        (2021 Only)                            (2021-2025)
 
Scott W. Bartlett, CNHA                   $7,800.                                    $22,800.  
 
 
George E. Sansoucy, PE, LLC          $15,000.                                   $43,000.                      
 
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
Funded through the Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund (Current balance $27,616. with 
proposed annual warrant article of $25,000.)
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
To award to the lowest bid submitted by Scott W. Bartlett, CNHA for a 5 year contract 
totaling $ 22,800.
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
I move to award the bid for the Utility Revaluation to Scott W. Bartlett, CNHA in the 
amount of $22,800. for the tax year 2021 through 2025 with payments broken down as 
follows:   2021 - $7,800., 2022 - $3,750., 2023 - $3,750., 2024 - $3,750., and 2025 - 
$3,750.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:
Concur

Page 82 of 200



ATTACHMENTS:
1. Utility Revaluation Bid

Page 83 of 200



Page 84 of 200



Page 85 of 200



Page 86 of 200



Page 87 of 200



Page 88 of 200



Page 89 of 200



Page 90 of 200



Page 91 of 200



Page 92 of 200



Page 93 of 200



Page 94 of 200



Page 95 of 200



Page 96 of 200



Page 97 of 200



Page 98 of 200



Page 99 of 200



Page 100 of 200



Page 101 of 200



Page 102 of 200



Page 103 of 200



Page 104 of 200



Page 105 of 200



Page 106 of 200



Page 107 of 200



Page 108 of 200



Page 109 of 200



Page 110 of 200



Page 111 of 200



Page 112 of 200



Page 113 of 200



Page 114 of 200



Page 115 of 200



Page 116 of 200



Page 117 of 200



Page 118 of 200



Page 119 of 200



Page 120 of 200



Page 121 of 200



Page 122 of 200



Page 123 of 200



Page 124 of 200



Page 125 of 200



Page 126 of 200



Page 127 of 200



Page 128 of 200



Page 129 of 200



Page 130 of 200



Page 131 of 200



Page 132 of 200



Page 133 of 200



Page 134 of 200



Page 135 of 200



Page 136 of 200



Page 137 of 200



Page 138 of 200



Page 139 of 200



Page 140 of 200



Page 141 of 200



Page 142 of 200



Page 143 of 200



Page 144 of 200



Page 145 of 200



Page 146 of 200



Page 147 of 200



Page 148 of 200



Page 149 of 200



Page 150 of 200



Page 151 of 200



Page 152 of 200



Page 153 of 200



Page 154 of 200



Page 155 of 200



Page 156 of 200



Page 157 of 200



Page 158 of 200



Page 159 of 200



Page 160 of 200



Page 161 of 200



Page 162 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Police Station Renovation CRF 
Withdrawal Request

Department: Finance Department

Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: Laurie May

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Request to withdraw $609,000 from the Police Station Renovation Capital Reserve 
Fund to cover the cost of the attached invoices.  Upon approval, please sign the 
enclosed withdrawal request addressed to the Trustees of the Trust Fund.
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
The budget impact is reducing this capital reserve fund by $609,000.  The balance was 
$609,159.39 as of February 28, 2021.  
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
To approve and sign the request.
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
I move to approve and sign for the withdrawal of $609,000 from the Police Station 
Renovation Capital Reserve Fund for the first four AIA requests.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Police Station Reno CRF WD Request
2. Police Station Reno CRF AIA 1
3. Police Station Reno CRF AIA 2
4. Police Station Reno CRF AIA 3
5. Police Station Reno CRF AIA 4
6. Police Station Reno CRF AIA 5

Page 163 of 200



Page 164 of 200



Page 165 of 200



Page 166 of 200



Page 167 of 200



Page 168 of 200



Page 169 of 200



Page 170 of 200



Page 171 of 200



Page 172 of 200



Page 173 of 200



Page 174 of 200



Page 175 of 200



Page 176 of 200



Page 177 of 200



Page 178 of 200



Page 179 of 200



Page 180 of 200



Page 181 of 200



Page 182 of 200



Page 183 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Assessing Department: Assessing
Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: Michele Boudreau

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
Abatement Recommendations
A. A yield tax was issued in the amount of $101.00, which was determined to be 
incorrect. A revised timber yield tax bill will be issued in the amount of $429.41. It is 
recommended that an abatement in the amount of $101.00 be approved.

Therefore, I move to approve the 2020 abatement request for Map 003 Lot 032-003 in 
the amount of $101.00.

B. The subject property is improved with a colonial-style home on 3.94 acres of 
land.  The dwelling is listed in good condition. The portable hot tub should not be taxed 
and removing it reduces the subject’s value to $596,800.

Therefore, I move to grant the abatement in the amount of $100.00 for Map 004, Lot 
044-000.

B-1. The subject property is a conventional style home located on a 3.48-acre parcel. 
The reason for the abatement request is the taxpayer’s concern with the assessment in 
relation to the sale price of $440,000 on November 16, 2018 and two appraisals with a 
value indication of $450,000 as of October 23, 2018 and a value indication of $448,000 
as of 12/21/2019. I reviewed the documentation provided and noted some errors 
related to the sketch and physical data of the property. Additionally, it is my opinion that 
with the two appraisals and purchase price, they indicate that an adjustment to the 
assessment is warranted. The market value is determined to be between $440,000 and 
$450,000 and when the 2020 ratio of 78.6% is applied, it indicates an assessment 
range of $345,000 to $354,000. After adjustments the assessment is reduced by 

Page 184 of 200



$96,000 from $446,000 to $350,000 for the 2020 tax year.  As this is the case, it is 
recommended that abatement in the amount of $2,734 be granted for the 2020 tax 
year.

Therefore, I move to approve the 2020 abatement for Map 001 Lot 005-001 in the 
amount of $2,734.

Timber Tax Levy
C. The attached is a Timber Tax Levy and Certification of Yield Tax to be collected by 
the Tax Collector for the cutting of timber. The Department of Revenue provides the 
stumpage values that are used to calculate the tax.

Therefore, I move to approve and sign the Timber Tax Levy and Certification of Yield 
Tax in the amount of $429.41 for Map 003, Lot 032-002.

BTLA Settlement Agreement
 D. The subject property is improved with a box department store, and five additional tenants within 
the building, situated on 31.83 acres, zoned commercial. The dwelling is listed in good 
condition.  The taxpayer claims the subject property has a disproportionate increase in assessment 
given its full equalized value at $21,176,730.  To prove disproportionate assessment, the taxpayer 
must prove what the property was worth on the date of assessment and the property’s "equalized 
assessment" exceeds its market value.  The abatement request was denied.
  
 Subsequently the taxpayer disagreed with this decision and filed an appeal with the BTLA.   After a 
phone conference and reviewing assessed values of other comparable box department stores in 
New Hampshire, a settlement was discussed.  The taxpayer has agreed to withdraw the BTLA 
Appeal if the town will assess the property at $15,923,000 (full value of $19,001,140 x .838 DRA 
2019 Ratio) for Tax Year 2019 and assess the property at $14,934,900 (full value of $19,001,140 x 
.786 DRA 2020 Ratio) for Tax Year 2020.  It is recommended that an abatement in the amount of 
$49,150.78 for 2019 be granted, and $80,062.98 for 2020 be granted, plus applicable interest.
 
 Therefore, I move to approve the BTLA settlement for Map 002, Lot 066-001 for tax year 2019 and 
2020.
 

 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Assessing Documents Memos March 22 2021
2. BTLA Settlement Map 002, Lot 066-001
3. Full Assessing Walmart BTLA Settlement 2020.03.22

Page 185 of 200



Page 186 of 200



Page 187 of 200



Page 188 of 200



Page 189 of 200



Page 190 of 200



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Payroll, AP and Minutes Approval Department: Finance Department
Meeting Date: March 22, 2021 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
Approvals:
  
  Payroll
     AP1~ I move to approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of 
$215,291.55 dated March 11, 2021, subject to review and audit.
  
 Accounts Payable
  
  AP2 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$48,629.00 dated March 5, 2021, subject to review and audit.
   
  AP3 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY21Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$44,057.36 dated March 10, 2021, subject to review and audit (NH DMV).
  
  Minutes
   ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of March 9, 2021.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. 2021.03.09 BOS_DRAFT c

Page 191 of 200



 
 
 
 
 

 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 

2 Main Street 

Tuesday, March 9, 2021 6:30PM 
 

1. Call to Order 1 

Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 2 

 3 

Attendees by Zoom conference call: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Dwight Brew, 4 

Selectman Reed Panasiti, Selectman John D’Angelo, and Selectman Tom Grella. 5 

Also present: Town Administrator Dean Shankle and Kristan Patenaude, recording 6 

secretary 7 

 8 

Other attendees and the public accessed the meeting via Zoom. 9 

 10 

Chairman Lyon explained that, pursuant to the State of Emergency declared by the 11 

Governor as a result of the COVID19 pandemic and in accordance with his Emergency 12 

Order #12, this meeting is authorized to take place electronically. There is no physical 13 

location to observe and listen to this meeting.  However, in accordance with the 14 

Emergency Order, we are: 15 

 16 

Utilizing Zoom teleconferencing for this meeting.  All members of the Board have the 17 

ability to communicate during the meeting through this platform and the public has access 18 

to contemporaneously listen and if necessary, participate in the meeting by dialing +1 301 19 

715 8592 and using a webinar ID of 861-3978-6291 or by using the link contained in the 20 

agenda posted at amherstnh.gov. 21 

 22 

Notice of the meeting and means to access it were previously posted in accordance with 23 

law. Members of the public that have phoned into the meeting can raise their hand by 24 

pressing the *9 on their phone, in order to make it known that they would like to speak to 25 

the Board. If anyone has a problem accessing the meeting, please call 603-440-8248 for 26 

assistance. In the event the public is unable to access the meeting, the meeting will be 27 

adjourned and rescheduled.  28 

 29 

All votes will be taken by roll call and for ease, in alphabetical order. 30 

Lastly, the meeting is being recorded and will be replayed on ACATV. 31 

 32 

The Board started by taking a roll call vote and stating if they were alone. 33 

 34 

Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – present; Selectman Grella – present; Selectman Panasiti 35 

– present; Selectman D’Angelo – present; and Chairman Lyon – present. All noted 36 

themselves as being alone. 37 

 38 

Page 192 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 2 OF 9 

 

2.   Citizen’s Forum - none 39 

 40 

3.   Scheduled Appointments  41 

3.1 Chris Buchanan for BPAC 42 

Chris Buchanan, Chair of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee, explained that the 43 

application deadline for the TAP Grant has been set for March 19, 2021. In order for an 44 

application to be considered, the Board of Selectmen must vote to support the application and 45 

submit a letter stating such. The project proposed is essentially the same as what was 46 

proposed at the last Board meeting. He asked the Board to consider supporting the BPAC’s 47 

application for the TAP Grant. 48 

 49 

In response to a question from Chairman Lyon, Chris Buchanan explained that the letter of 50 

interest does not commit the Town to anything. The application will be evaluated by the 51 

Regional Planning Commission and grants will be awarded in June. If the Town’s application 52 

is selected for a grant, municipal agreement would be necessary in October. DPW Director, 53 

Eric Hahn added that, if Warrant Article funds are needed to complete the proposed project, 54 

the grant can be made available to those awarded in next March. Most TAP Grant projects 55 

take between 2-4 years to complete. 56 

 57 

In response to a question from Selectman Brew, Chris Buchanan explained that the total 58 

proposed project costs approximately $960,000. If federal funds are awarded, this total would 59 

be approximately $770,000, leaving the municipal burden at approximately $192,000. If the 60 

Town is able to incorporate some of this project into already scheduled road construction, the 61 

cost could be even less to the Town. Chris Buchanan stated that the Town looks to only gain 62 

from this application, if awarded, financially. Chris Buchanan noted that the scope of the 63 

project can be adjusted after the grant is awarded. 64 

 65 

In response to a question from Selectman Grella, Eric Hahn stated that construction on any 66 

piece of the project cannot be started prior to the grant being awarded. 67 

 68 

In response to a question from Selectman Panasiti, Eric Hahn stated that if the Warrant Article 69 

for this project fails, but the TAP Grant is approved, the road rebuild schedule may need to be 70 

adjusted slightly or there may be a slight delay in the project. If the grant is received, it is 71 

generally best to show that some progress is being made with the funds. If the Warrant Article 72 

passes, it could allow for some preliminary engineering to be completed. 73 

 74 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman Brew to support 75 

the application for the TAP Grant and to authorize the Chair to sign a letter for such. 76 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 77 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 78 

 79 

 3.2 Bill Smith regarding Old Milford Road  80 

Bill Smith, 19 Old Milford Road, addressed the Board regarding drainage issues at his 81 

property. He explained that during moderate rains or during snow melts, the culvert near his 82 

house drains to his property and saturates the yard. This creates a flow over his driveway and 83 

onto the back of his property. There is no drainage ditch to divert the water flowing down his 84 

side of the road. He believes that the overly saturated ground caused a tree to fall on his house 85 

Page 193 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 3 OF 9 

 

a couple of years ago. There are other rotting trees in the front of his property, and he has 86 

taken down 25 trees in fear of them falling. He believes that he has gone over and above as a 87 

property owner to deal with this. He has reached out to the DPW a few times and mostly been 88 

ignored. He requested that the Board help mitigate this problem. 89 

 90 

Eric Hahn stated that he has empathy to the homeowner, but that he cannot do anything about 91 

this problem in the short term. The topography of the land in this area leads to the water 92 

draining directly to this property. The Town is obligated, per State law, not to change the 93 

course of a natural streambed. The water flow that exists prior to a road being put in place 94 

must be maintained during the life of the road. The best he could do would be to tie the 95 

culvert in front of Mr. Smith’s house to the other culvert when the road is rebuilt, but this 96 

leads to other issues and places a burden on abutters. DES will not let him, or the homeowner 97 

redirect the course of the streambed. 98 

 99 

Mr. Smith questioned why the Town allowed for a house to be built on this property in 1988 if 100 

this issue was not going to be fixable. He believes that the Town approved the building permit 101 

with this knowledge and so sort of helped create this problem. He noted that he almost lost his 102 

life when the tree fell onto his house due to the water that flows directly onto his property. He 103 

questioned what else can be done. 104 

 105 

In response to a question from Chairman Lyon, Eric Hahn stated that Old Milford Road is 106 

approximately 200 years old. The drainage of this road has remained unchanged since the 107 

1930’s.  108 

 109 

Eric Hahn stated that he would happily sit down with Mr. Smith to discuss other possible 110 

options. He will meet with Mr. Smith and offer suggestions that are allowable under RSAs. 111 

 112 

Selectman Brew stated that he is very sympathetic to Mr. Smith’s situation. Some of 113 

Amherst’s lands are wet and considered not buildable, while others are wet but still buildable. 114 

This is a challenge for builders if they decide to develop these lots. He understands Eric 115 

Hahn’s point, in that water flows downhill. He is hopeful that the meeting between Mr. Smith 116 

and Eric Hahn will result in some amount of satisfaction for the homeowner. 117 

 118 

Selectman D’Angelo also sympathized the Mr. Smith. He noted that he had similar issues that 119 

he spent the money to fix on his own property. 120 

 121 

Town Administrator Shankle suggested that someone from the Conservation Commission also 122 

sit in on the meeting. 123 

 124 

In response to a question from Selectman Panasiti, Eric Hahn explained that the culvert in 125 

question is manmade, and made of reinforced concrete. It should have a lifespan of 70-80 126 

years. Eric Hahn noted that during a road rebuild, he could possibly move the culvert slightly, 127 

except that the culvert would have to remain outflowing on Mr. Smith’s property, so that it 128 

would not cause an issue to his neighbor’s property. Any change would need to comply with 129 

DES regulations. 130 

 131 

Page 194 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 4 OF 9 

 

In response to a question from Mr. Smith, Eric Hahn stated that he believes Old Milford Road 132 

is do for reconstruction in 4-5 years. 133 

4. Administration  134 

4.1 Administrative Updates 135 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the new Finance Director, Laurie May, is due to 136 

start on Monday. She will be starting at Grade 9, Step 2 – or $3,164/biweekly. 137 

 138 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 139 

approve the hiring of Laurie May as the new Finance Director, at Grade 9, Step 2, starting 140 

next Monday. 141 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 142 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 143 

 144 

Town Administrator Shankle noted that the State distributed 12,000 Johnson & Johnson 145 

COVID-19 vaccine doses at NH Speedway last weekend. The State is preparing to vaccinate 146 

groups 2A and 2B soon. 147 

 148 

Town Administrator Shankle stated that the NH unemployment rate dropped 3.6% in January 149 

from 16% last April. 150 

 151 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Town is in Phase I of its statistical revaluation 152 

of property process. Data is currently being collected. Due to the cyclical evaluation process, 153 

some property owners may be called up to three times for different items. This year only 154 

exterior inspections will be done, with internal information being confirmed at the door or by 155 

mail. All staff and vehicles have identification. 156 

 157 

 4.2 Easter Egg Hunt 158 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Junior Women’s Club would like to hold its 159 

annual Easter Egg Hunt. This year’s event will be a drive-through and pick-up event. A 160 

maximum of 100 cars are eligible for pre-registration for the event. 161 

 162 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to allow 163 

the Amherst Jr. Women's Club to run their annual Easter Egg event on the Town Green on 164 

March 27th, 2021 from 9:00 am to 12:00 noon as outlined in the information provided by the 165 

Recreation Department. 166 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 167 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 168 

 169 

 4.3 Amherst Return of Funds, New Hampshire Interlocal Trust 170 

Town Administrator Shankle stated that the Town’s health insurance company is returning 171 

$71,450.16. The Town needs to decide if it would like this as a one-time payment, or as a 172 

return applied as a “Premium Holiday” to members’ contributions. 173 

 174 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to allow the 175 

Town Administrator to fill out and sign the NHEIT Return of Funds form and select the “one-176 

time payment by check” option. 177 

Page 195 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 5 OF 9 

 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 178 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 179 

 180 

 4.4 Planning Board, Lot 8-47 181 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that Lot 8-47 is a backlot without frontage on a Class 182 

6 road. The Board needs to approve a building permit for the Lot and to accept a Waiver of 183 

Release form from the property owner. The lot owner already appeared before the Zoning 184 

Board of Adjustment (ZBA) to receive a variance, which was granted. The landowner also 185 

went before the Planning Board for review of this item and comments were sent to the Board 186 

for review. 187 

 188 

Attorney Tom Quinn, Esq., explained that this lot dates back to the 1930’s and has always 189 

been serviced by a 15’ right of way easement. The variance that was granted allowed the lot to 190 

be made larger, but it is still a non-conforming lot. The intent of this project is to construct a 191 

residence, with access to it over the existing right of way. 192 

 193 

In response to a comment by Selectman Brew, Attorney Quinn agreed that the Board must 194 

accept the Waiver of Release of Liability form as a requirement for the Town to issue a 195 

building permit. 196 

 197 

In response to a question from Selectman D’Angelo, Attorney Quinn noted that he will send 198 

this iteration of the waiver to Town Counsel for review. 199 

 200 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo that the 201 

Board of Selectmen authorize the issuance of a building permit, once the Waiver of Liability 202 

has been approved by Town Counsel and recorded with the Registry of Deeds. 203 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 204 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 205 

 206 

 4.5 Pulpit Road Release of Liability 207 

Town Administrator Shankle suggested that the Board send this item to the Planning Board 208 

and the Community Development Office for review and comment. The Board agreed to do so. 209 

 210 

5. Staff Reports 211 

5.1 Bean Foundation Grant Award 212 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Town was awarded a $40,000 grant for the 213 

Recreation Department to renovate the Buck Meadow clubhouse. As this is unanticipated 214 

revenue, there must first be a public hearing, before the grant money can be accepted. This 215 

will happen at a future Board meeting. 216 

 217 

 5.2 Joshua’s Park Goes Undercover Fundraiser 218 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that a fundraising committee is looking into raising 219 

funds to build shaded structures at Joshua’s Park. The cost of this project is unclear at this 220 

time. The Board will hear more about this in the future. 221 

 222 

 5.3 Acceptance of Snowmobile Donation 223 

Page 196 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 6 OF 9 

 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Dutremble family was kind enough to donate 224 

a snowmobile so that the Recreation Department can continue to groom the snowshoe and 225 

cross-country skiing trails on the Buck Meadow property. 226 

 227 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to accept 228 

the Dutremble family' s donation of the 2001 Polaris 440 Snowmobile to the Parks and 229 

Recreation Department for the purpose of grooming the trails at Buck Meadow Conservation 230 

and Recreation Area. 231 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 232 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 233 

 234 

 5.4 Mechanics Garage Foundation Bids 235 

Eric Hahn explained that the Board of Selectmen approved the purchase of a mechanic’s 236 

garage last year. The funds were encumbered, and foundation plans have since been received. 237 

The project was put out to bid and he is requesting that the Board award the bid to the lowest, 238 

qualified bidder. The structure will need to be erected prior to June 30, 2021. 239 

 240 

In response to a question from Selectman Grella, Eric Hahn stated that he is not planning to 241 

seal the concrete. The proposed concrete is 4” thick and essentially waterproof. This is 242 

basically impervious surface. There will be no floor drains installed. 243 

 244 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 245 

award the Mechanics Building Foundation construction bid for RFP 03-21 to Leighton A. 246 

White for $81,465.00. 247 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 248 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 249 

 250 

6. Approvals  251 

 252 

6.1 Baboosic Lake Community Septic Warrants 253 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 254 

approve and sign the Quarterly Warrants for the Baboosic Lake Community Septic, invoices 255 

due April 1, 2021, as follows:  256 

Phase I in the amount of $ 2,011.32 257 

Phase II in the amount of $ 5,459.22 258 

Phase III in the amount of $ 6,749.72 259 

Phase IV in the amount of $ 4,817.15 260 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 261 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 262 

 263 

6.2 Assessing 264 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to deny 265 

the 2020 abatement request for Map 001 Lot 010-012. 266 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 267 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 268 

 269 

Page 197 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 7 OF 9 

 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to deny 270 

the abatement for Map 001, Lot 012-000-018.  271 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 272 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 273 

 274 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 275 

approve the 2020 abatement for Map 001 Lot 013-003 in the amount of $122. 276 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 277 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 278 

 279 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 280 

approve the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $17,500.00 for Tax Map 004 Lot 147-281 

003. 282 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 283 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 284 

 285 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 286 

the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $17,500.00 for Tax Map 004 Lot 147-004. 287 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 288 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 289 

 290 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 291 

the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $13,300.00 for Tax Map 006 Lot 079-010. 292 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 293 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 294 

 295 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 296 

the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $13,300.00 for Tax Map 006 Lot 079-011. 297 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 298 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 299 

 300 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 301 

the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $13,300.00 for Tax Map 006 Lot 079-012. 302 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 303 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 304 

 305 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 306 

the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $13,300.00 for Tax Map 006 Lot 079-013. 307 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 308 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 309 

 310 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 311 

the All-Service Veterans' Tax Credit for tax year 2021 on the following map and lot number: 312 

MAP/LOT AMOUNT  017-017-000   $500.00 313 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 314 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 315 

 316 

Page 198 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 8 OF 9 

 

 6.3 Payroll, AP and Minutes Approvals 317 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 318 

approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $223,857.01 dated February 11, 319 

2021, subject to review and audit. 320 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 321 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 322 

 323 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 324 

approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $232,444.87 dated February 28, 325 

2021, subject to review and audit. 326 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 327 

Selectman Panasiti – yes; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 328 

 329 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 330 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $3,266,428.00 dated 331 

February 1, 2021, subject to review and audit (School Disbursements). 332 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 333 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 334 

 335 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 336 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $212,999.03 dated 337 

February 2, 2021, subject to review and audit. 338 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 339 

Selectman Panasiti – yes; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 340 

  341 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 342 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $318,523.74 dated 343 

February 16, 2021, subject to review and audit. 344 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 345 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 346 

 347 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 348 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $3,266,427.00 dated 349 

March 1, 2021, subject to review and audit (School Disbursements). 350 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 351 

Selectman Panasiti – yes; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 352 

 353 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 354 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $349,750.78 dated March 355 

2, 2021, subject to review and audit. 356 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 357 

Selectman Panasiti – yes; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 358 

 359 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 360 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $25,725.21 dated March 361 

3, 2021, subject to review and audit (NH DMV). 362 

Page 199 of 200



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2021.3.09 

 PAGE 9 OF 9 

 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 363 

Selectman Panasiti – yes; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 364 

 365 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 366 

approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $23,855.10 dated March 367 

3, 2021, subject to review and audit (NH DMV). 368 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 369 

Selectman Panasiti – yes; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 370 

 371 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 372 

approve the meeting minutes of February 8, 2021, 6:00pm Non-Public, as presented. 373 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 374 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 375 

 376 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 377 

approve the meeting minutes of February 8, 2021, 6:30pm, as presented. 378 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 379 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 380 

 381 

7. Action Items 382 

The Board reviewed its action items. 383 

 384 

8. Old/New Business 385 

Selectman D’Angelo stated that the Amherst School Board voted to approve the change in 386 

start times for Amherst schools to begin in the fall. 387 

 388 

Chairman Lyon noted that he and Town Administrator Shankle have been invited to attend the 389 

SAU’s Joint Facilities Committee meeting regarding possible changes to the Clark School on 390 

Monday afternoon. 391 

 392 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 393 

adjourn the meeting at 8:26pm. 394 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 395 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 396 

      397 

NEXT MEETING: Monday, March 22, 2021 398 

 399 

 400 

    401 

_________________________       __________________ 402 

Selectman Reed Panasiti Date 403 

Page 200 of 200


	1. Call to Order
	2. Non-Public Session,  RSA 91-A:3 II.(e)
	3. Citizens' Forum
	4. Scheduled Appointments
	1. Conservation Commission Forest Management Plan, Ja
	ACC Forest Management Plan rev 4


	5. Administration
	1. Administrative Updates
	Staff Report

	2. PILOT agreement with Parkhurst Place
	Staff Report
	Parkhurst Place Final PILOT agreement to BOS 3-18-21


	6. Staff Reports
	1. Forestview Cemetery, Andrew Mullin Eagle Scout Pro
	Staff Report
	Forestview Cemetery - Andrew Mullin - 2021-03-02

	2. Road Reconstruction - RFP award
	Staff Report
	CPI Bid
	CPI award form 05-21

	3. Utility Revaluation Bid
	Staff Report
	Utility Revaluation Bid

	4. Police Station Renovation CRF Withdrawal Request
	Staff Report
	Police Station Reno CRF WD Request
	Police Station Reno CRF AIA 1
	Police Station Reno CRF AIA 2
	Police Station Reno CRF AIA 3
	Police Station Reno CRF AIA 4
	Police Station Reno CRF AIA 5


	7. Approvals
	1. Assessing
	Staff Report
	Assessing Documents Memos March 22 2021
	BTLA Settlement Map 002, Lot 066-001

	2. Payroll, AP and Minutes Approval
	Staff Report
	2021.03.09 BOS_DRAFT c


	8. Action Items
	9. Old/New Business
	 Adjournment
	 Next Meeting:  April 12, 2021

